1967

Irene Erickson v. Oran L. Beardall : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Respondent filed an action against the Appellant alleging that pursuant to a divorce between the parties, the Appellant and Respondent entered into a stipulation whereby Appellant agreed to pay certain obligations. That Appellant failed to pay said obligations. That thereafter, Appellant filed a voluntary petition in Bankruptcy. Respondent further alleged that the obligations set forth in the stipulation were not dis-

chargeable in bankruptcy as arising out of an alimony and maintenance provision of a divorce decree and thus not a provable debt in bankruptcy.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the Court and from a verdict and judgment for the plaintiff, defendant appealed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the judgment in his favor as a matter of law, or that failing, a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In August, 1965, the Appellant commenced a proceeding for divorce against the Respondent. On September 2, 1965, Respondent through counsel informed the appellant's counsel of the terms under which a settlement of the divorce action could be effected. Thereafter in September, 1965 the Appellant and Respondent executed a stipulation wherein Appellant agreed to execute a promissory note to the Respondent in the amount of \$1,265.85 and agreed among other things, to pay a joint obligation to First Federal Savings and Loan Association in the amount of \$1379.83, an obligation owed to Zions First National Bank in the amount of \$2043.10 and an obligation owed to City Finance Company of Murray in the amount of \$471.64, and

to pay Respondent \$100.00 per month as alimony until her social security was reinstated.

Thereafter on the 27th day of October, 1965 the Court made and entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and a Decree awarding the Divorce Decree to the Appellant and approving the stipulation of the parties regarding alimony and property matters.

That in July 1966, Appellant was in the process of filing a voluntary petition in bankruptcy. That prior to such filing the Appellant did transfer to the Respondent a 1964 Dodge Truck in satisfaction of the promissory note set forth in the stipulation and executed in the favor of the Respondent in the amount of \$1265.85. That thereafter on the 28th day of July, 1966, the Appellant did file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy and did thereafter discontinue any payments upon the obligations set forth in the stipulation approved by the Court in the Divorce Decree, Civil No. 28806.

On August 5, 1966, the Respondent filed a complaint to collect the amount due under the promissory note and praying for judgment against the defendant for the amounts owed to First Federal Savings and Loan Association, City Finance Company of Murray, and Zions First National Bank. Appellant filed a motion for stay of proceedings asking the Court to stay the proceedings pending the completion of the bankruptcy hearings and the Court granted said stay of proceedings on the 20th day of September, 1966 al-

lowing Respondent 20 days to amend her complaint to show an avoidance of discharge in bankruptcy if she desired. Thereafter on the 7th of October, 1966, Respondent filed her amended complaint alleging that the obligations arose out of an alimony and maintenance provision of a Divorce Decree and were not dischargeable in bankruptcy and praying for judgment against the Appellant for the amounts set forth in the complaint.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD AND THE APPLICABLE LAW DOES NOT SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT FINDING THAT THE OBLIGATIONS TO FIRST FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION, CITY FINANCE COMPANY OF MURRAY, AND ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK ARE FOR MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT OF THE RESPONDENT AND THEREFORE NOT DISCHARGEABLE IN BANKRUPTCY.

POINT II

THE OBLIGATIONS SUED UPON BY THE RESPONDENT WERE CONTRACTUAL IN NATURE AND THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT SUCH OBLIGA-

TIONS WERE FOR SUPPORT AND MAINTENANCE OF THE RESPONDENT. THAT SUCH OBLIGATIONS WERE DISCHARGED BY THE BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDINGS.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD AND THE APPLICABLE LAW DOES NOT SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT FINDING THAT THE OBLIGATIONS TO FIRST FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION, CITY FINANCE COMPANY OF MURRAY, AND ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK ARE FOR MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT OF THE RESPONDENT AND THEREFORE NOT DISCHARGEABLE IN BANKRUPTCY.

In asserting her claim against Appellant, Respondent relies upon *Section 17 of the Bankruptcy Act, Title 11, Bankruptcy, Section 35, U.S.C.A.*, which provides:

“Debts not effected by a discharge. a. A discharge in bankruptcy shall release a bankrupt from all of his provable debts whether allowable in full or in part, except such as (1) . . . ; (2) . . . or for alimony due or to become due, or for maintenance or support of wife or child, . . .”

Thus, the burden of proof upon Respondent was to establish proof by a preponderance of the evidence

that the debts owed to First Federal Savings and Loan Association, Zions First National Bank and City Finance Company of Murray were the obligation of the Appellant in order to provide for the support and maintenance of the Respondent.

The record disclosed that at the time of the trial the Plaintiff-Respondent had remarried (TR p. 5, lines 1 to 3):

(Mr. Hinton) "Q You have remarried, have you not, since this complaint has been filed?"

(Irene Erickson) "A Yes. The name is Robison."

It further discloses the purpose of the parties in having the Appellant, Mr. Beardall, enter into an agreement and stipulation for the payment of certain debts to aggregate the amount of funds the Respondent had brought into the marriage. (TR p. 5, lines 19 through 26):

(Mr. Hinton) "Q Did you have any funds at the time you married Mr. Beardall?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A Yes."

(Mr. Hinton) "Q Can you tell the Court how much?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A Nearly \$5,000.00. \$4,700.00 and some odd dollars."

(Mr. Hinton) "Q And did you have any of those funds at the time of the divorce?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A No."

and (TR p. 26, lines 14 to 22):

(Mr. Jeffs) "Q Now, if I understood you correctly, the purpose of the stipulation and of the transfer of these various properties, and of Mr. Beardall's assuming the obligations on these three debts, was to reimburse you for funds that you had at the time that you went into the marriage?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A Yes."

(Mr. Jeffs) "Q To replace or in effect to replace the property that you had prior to your going into the marriage?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A Yes."

The fact that the assumption of the obligations set forth in the stipulation in the divorce proceedings which was received as evidence (TR p. 47, lines 25 to 30 and p. 48, lines 1 and 2) to reimburse Mrs. Robison for funds she had prior to the marriage is further established by Mr. Hinton's letter of September 2, 1965 (Exhibit 5-D):

"Mrs. Beardall had in her bank account the sum of \$4,734.36 at the time of their marriage. This has all been spent primarily on Mr. Beardall's bills and for automobiles. If we were to figure interest at four per cent on this amount without the interest being compounded for the seven months in 1963 in which they were married, all of 1964 and for the first eight months of this year, the total interest would be \$426.06. This added to the original amount would make \$5,160.42.

There are three accounts on which money is owed and which Mr. Beardall agreed that he should pay. One of these was for siding on the

house for \$1,379.83, for the 1965 Valiant automobile, \$2,043.10 and \$471.64 to City Finance. This amount totals to \$3,894.57. If that figure is subtracted from the total amount she should have coming, it would leave a balance of \$1,265.85."

The promissory note in the sum of \$1,265.85 (Exhibit 4-P) was executed to make up the difference between the sum of the three obligations assumed by Mr. Beardall and the amount claimed by Mrs. Robison together with interest as necessary to reimburse her for the funds brought to the marriage.

Respondent claims the assumption of these debts was for her support and maintenance. However, the court will note from an examination of the file in the divorce proceeding that the divorce was granted to Appellant herein. Under such circumstance, the court in the divorce matter would not be obliged to provide for the support of the offending party. In this divorce the parties resolved that matter by providing in their stipulation and agreement that Mr. Beardall should pay Mrs. Robison \$100.00 per month until her social security was reinstated, which he did. (TR p. 16, lines 17 to 20 and p. 28, lines 17 to 23).

The dischargeability of debts and obligations of parties to a divorce under a property settlement agreement or a support and maintenance agreement is discussed by various texts and treatises as well as in the case law.

An annotation in 104 *A.L.R.* at p. 722 collects

and groups the cases construing and applying the provision of the Bankruptcy Act excepting debts for maintenance or support of wife and child from discharge. Therein the annotator cites several cases holding that agreements entered into prior to divorce wherein the husband agrees to pay payments to the wife which will continue after the divorce are held to be support matters and not dischargeable under the Bankruptcy Act. However, the annotator goes on to say at page 724:

“The exception of the Bankruptcy Act under consideration does not, however, extend to all claims for maintenance or support.”

Under this portion of the annotation the annotator is quoted as follows:

“In *Re Ostrander* (1905; D. C.) 139 F. 592, Am. Bankr. Rep. 96, it was held that the provision of the Bankruptcy Act exempting from discharge liabilities for maintenance or support of wife or child did not include a debt incurred by the husband for the services of a physician to attend the wife while she was in a normal relationship to her husband. The court said: “If so, a person supplying goods for a wife or child, or rendering a service necessary for support or maintenance, at the request of the husband, without delinquency on his part, would be beyond the scope of the act. The grocer, the marketman, clothiers of all description, physicians, dentists,—in fact all who, by service or sale, contribute to the support of the family and whereby to the support of a wife or child,—would have claims not dischargeable under the act.”

"In *Loman v. Locke* (1921) 240 Mass. 551, 134 N.E. 343, 48 Am. Bankr. Rep. 198, it was held that a judgment for board, clothing, and medicine furnished the defendant's wife and child was a claim provable in bankruptcy, and not within the provision of the Bankruptcy Act exempting from the effect of discharge liabilities for maintenance and support of life and minor children."

"In *Schellenberg v. Mullaney* (1906) 112 App. Div. 384, 98 N.Y.S. 432, 16 Am. Bankr. Rep. 542, it was held that § 17 of the Act of 1905, excepting "liabilities for alimony due to or to become due or for maintenance or support of wife and child" from discharge, referred only to the involuntary liability under the common law for support of wife and children, and to anyone who relieved their wants, but that it did not refer to liability for goods purchased by a husband or parent and used by wife or child, and that a debt for such goods was discharged by a discharge in bankruptcy."

In the comprehensive 10 volume work *Collier on Bankruptcy*, 14th Edition, Volume 1, page 1646, the particular matters involved in the case now before the court have been discussed:

"The above quoted portion of clause (2) applies to the common law liability involuntarily imposed upon the parent for support of wife or child.³"

"It was intended to include liability where a parent had failed or refused to make a provision for maintenance and such was furnished by another.⁴"

“It does not include contracted liabilities for goods purchased (although these be necessities)⁵ medical attendance furnished,⁶ or board supplied⁷ by a parent for the use and benefit of the wife or child.⁸”

Also in the more recent publication of *Collier Bankruptcy Manual*, 2nd Edition, under Section 17, page 212:

“With respect to maintenance or support, the statute applies to the common-law liability involuntarily imposed upon the parent for the support of wife or child. “It was intended to include liability where a parent had failed or refused to make provision for maintenance and such was furnished by another.”⁴ It does not include contracted liabilities for goods purchased (although these be necessities), medical attendance furnished, or board supplied, by a parent for the use and benefit of the wife or child.⁵”

This is further corroborated in 9 Am Jur 2d 793:

“It must be observed that this statutory exception to operation of a discharge applies only to direct liabilities based upon, or substituted for, legal support obligations. It does not refer to, or include, liability for goods purchased by a husband or parent and used by the wife or child, and such liabilities remain dischargeable in the bankruptcy of the husband or parent.³ . . .”

“In a number of cases it has been held or recognized that a property settlement agreement between spouses is dischargeable in bankruptcy, at least where it is truly or substantially a property settlement agreement, and not an agreement for alimony, support, or maintenance.⁵”

Many of the cases dealing with the question are not in point. The principal case relied upon at trial by Plaintiff-Respondent is *Lyon vs. Lyon* (1949) 115 Utah 466, 206 P.2d 148.

“That testimony was to the effect that prior to the divorce the parties had jointly owned an equity in a home in Indiana, but before the divorce that home was placed in the wife’s name alone; that at the time the written stipulation was signed; it was understood between the parties that the \$5,000 was for her support and maintenance, and the payments on the house mortgage were for the same purpose, and that the insurance was to assure her at least \$5,000 for the same purpose . . . All obligations “for maintenance or support of wife or child,” whether denominated alimony by the state statute or note, are such as are not dischargeable in bankruptcy. It follows, therefore, that the real issue in this case is not, as the parties have argued, whether the award of the divorce decree was alimony or a property settlement, but rather whether the “property settlement” was really an award for the support and maintenance of the defendant’s wife . . . Thus, looking behind the decree and the stipulation, the conclusion seems inescapable under the authorities cited that much of the property awarded, without regard to the order for payment of the mortgage upon the home, or the judgment for \$5000, or the order for maintenance of the insurance protection, was ‘in the nature of alimony,’ and designed and contemplated by the parties to be for the support and maintenance of the plaintiff.

“Such a conclusion is further supported by

consideration of the years that the parties maintained the domestic relationship, by the fact that she was a stenographer and self-sustaining before marriage, that she is now 56 years old and thus practically unemployable in her profession, and by her positive testimony that in the attorney's office at the time of drawing the stipulation the payments of money were referred to as being for her support and maintenance, and by the defendant's admission that support and maintenance of the plaintiff was discussed there." . . . The fact that the husband was to pay off the mortgage on the home, that he was to pay the alimony in gross in monthly installments of \$50, that he was to carry insurance on his own life with his former wife as beneficiary, and that she received nearly all of the household furniture, all point to the idea of support. The evidence adequately supports the findings and holdings of the trial court . . .

The court in this case relied heavily upon the fact that there had been 22 years of marriage, that the award was made to pay \$5,000 in installments directly to the wife, that life insurance was to be carried on the life of the defendant with the plaintiff as beneficiary and the award of 15/16ths of the property directly to the plaintiff wife.

The present case can be distinguished from the *Lyon* case on numerous grounds.

(a) Divorce granted to Appellant against the Respondent imposing no automatic legal duty of support,

(b) Marriage for just over two years,

(c) Testimony of Respondent that payments were to reimburse her for funds she had at the time of marriage (TR p. 26(lines 14 to 22),

(d) Payments to be made to creditors not to Respondent,

(e) Was not a payment for support, but agreement to hold harmless,

(f) The nature of the obligations; siding, (TR p. 23, lines 19 to 28), Encyclopedia and color television (TR p. 24, lines 20 to 28), and an automobile (TR p. 25, lines 20 to 28).

Since Respondent has claimed that these obligations were to reimburse her for funds brought into the marriage and loaned to or used in behalf of Appellant, the 1950 cases of *LaRue vs. LaRue*, 341 Ill. App. 411, 93 N.E.2d 823, is almost directly in point. Sarah LaRue brought a proceeding for a rule to show cause why William LaRue should not be punished for contempt of Court in neglecting and refusing to comply with an order in a divorce decree to pay plaintiff an amount loaned by her to defendant. The trial court found the defendant guilty in contempt and committed him to jail until he purged himself thereof. The appeal court reversed, saying:

“It is well settled that upon adjudication in bankruptcy, title to all the bankrupt’s property vests in the trustee in bankruptcy as of the date of the filing of the bankruptcy petition, and the bankruptcy court has exclusive jurisdiction, pos-

session and control of the estate of the bankrupt which cannot be affected by proceedings in the State Court . . . Furthermore, where the jurisdiction of a bankruptcy court has intervened, no state court can proceed with a pending suit to recover a dischargeable debt except by permission of the bankruptcy court Ordinary money payments directed to be made by judgments or decrees are civil debts and dischargeable in bankruptcy . . . A decree for alimony is not an ordinary money decree and is not regarded as a debt owing from a husband to his wife, but rests on the natural and legal duty of the husband to support his wife and is not discharged by an order of the bankruptcy court . . . In the instant case, the original divorce decree found that appellant was indebted to appellee for \$1300 for money loaned by appellee to appellant and ordered appellant to pay that sum to appellee and created a lien upon any real estate owned by appellant within this State and directed a money judgment to be entered for that amount. The payment so directed was for money loaned and did not arise as a result of the marital relation of the parties. The obligation was a civil debt and not alimony and was dischargeable in bankruptcy . . . Inasmuch, however, as appellant had been adjudicated a bankrupt prior to the time the instant petition seeking to adjudge him in contempt was filed, the contempt order issued by the City Court was not proper. The order appealed from is therefore reversed.

The *Lyon* case was decided in 1949 and thereafter this court was faced with the more specific question involved in the case now before the court, that is, whether

the decree of a trial court ordering the husband to pay obligations incurred during marriage is dischargeable in bankruptcy.

612 *Fife vs. Fife* (1954) 1 Utah 2nd 281, 265 P.2d 662, wherein the court said,

“The parties married in 1944 during the interlocutory period of defendant’s previous divorce. Early in 1952, plaintiff was granted an annulment of the marriage and was awarded certain jointly-acquired property. At the same time, defendant was ordered to pay designated creditors having claims against the property. He failed to pay and was cited to show cause why he should not be held in contempt. On the day before hearing, he filed bankruptcy schedules, listing, among other, the debts he had been ordered to pay. Next day he was adjudicated a bankrupt and made proof of such fact by certificate. Six months later on plaintiff’s petition which prayed only punishment for contempt, he was again cited. He was not found in contempt, but the court entered judgment against him and in favor of the plaintiff for the amount she had been forced to pay the creditors in the meantime.”

“Defendant contends that his adjudication gave the bankruptcy court jurisdiction over his assets and liabilities; that any claim by plaintiff necessarily was adjudicable there, and that the state court had no authority to enter the judgment, subject to this appeal. Plaintiff reasons otherwise, urging that to deny such authority would emasculate a state court’s power to grant equitable relief simply by seeking sanctuary in bankruptcy; . . . It follows, and we

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