1967

Irene Erickson v. Oran L. Beardall : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD AND THE APPLICABLE LAW SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT FINDING THAT THE OBLIGATIONS TO FIRST FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION, CITY FINANCE COMPANY OF MURRAY, AND ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK ARE FOR

MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT OF THE RESPONDENT AND THEREFORE NOT DISCHARGEABLE IN BANKRUPTCY.

Section 17 of the Federal Bankruptcy Act, Title 11, Bankruptcy Section 35, U.S.C.A., contains the following provision:

“Debts not affected by a discharge. a. A discharge in bankruptcy shall release a bankrupt from all of his provable debts, whether allowable in full or in part, except such as (1) . . . ; (2) . . . or for alimony due or to become due, or for maintenance or support of wife or child, . . .”

A definition of the word “support” might be helpful to the Court in arriving at its decision. Ballentine’s Law Dictionary, 2nd Edition, states: Support “means maintenance, subsistence, or an income sufficient for the support of a family, and maintenance means sustenance, support by means of supplies of food, clothing, and other conveniences.”

The Respondent maintains and the District Court so held, that the obligations incurred during the marriage of the parties hereto for siding for the home, set of encyclopedias and television set, and automobile were for maintenance and support of Appellant’s wife.

We are concerned with the facts as they existed at the time Appellant and Respondent entered into a Stipulation, paving the way a short time later for a Divorce Decree.

After two years of marriage to Appellant, the Respondent no longer possessed approximately \$4,-700.00 she had prior to marriage. All was gone, and in addition, three sizeable family obligations had been incurred, all of which were to have been paid out of his wages. The following testimony was given at the trial:

(Mr. Hinton) "Q Now, these bills, when they were incurred, were they family obligations?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A Yes."

(Mr. Hinton) "Q Were they to be paid out of his wages?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A Yes."

(Mr. Hinton) "Q Did you have any way, on your own, of paying them?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A No." (Tr. p. 29).

She was not trained for employment outside of the home, and thus, without help, could not provide for her needs. Also her minor son had a heart ailment and was unable to work. (Tr. p.18).

In addition, Respondent had mothered and cared for Appellant's two minor sons during all of this period, and all lived in her home.

This home was livable, although it needed painting, but rather than paint, Appellant talked Respondent into having siding placed on it instead, thus incurring the indebtedness to First Federal Savings and

Loan Co., on which there was \$1,379.83 still due. (Tr. p. 29, 30).

Respondent, at the time of marriage, owned a 1962 Valiant, which was fully paid for. The addition of her new husband and two step-sons to the family made the car small for the family needs, and so it was traded in on the 1965 Valiant Station Wagon. The indebtedness thus incurred was the \$2,043.10 owed to Zions First National Bank. (Tr. p. 11).

During the marriage, a color TV set and encyclopedia set were purchased for family use and enjoyment and financed through City Finance Company of Murray. The balance owed was \$471.64.

It should be observed that all three obligations at the time of the divorce in no way enhanced or increased Respondent's standard of living, but simply continued it in the manner to which she had been accustomed.

Her sole living was calculated to be her small Social Security check, after it was reinstated, unless she could find employment. There was no way she could have paid off these three obligations.

The following statement from the record is enlightening:

(Mr. Hinton) "Q When the Stipulation was entered into in regard to the Divorce action, would you have been able to maintain yourself out of what you were receiving if he failed to pay these obligations?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A No."

(Mr. Hinton "Q When you entered into this agreement, what did you have in mind?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A Well, I figured he would pay those bills like the Stipulation ordered him to."

(Mr. Hinton) "Q And you felt you could get along?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A And I felt I could get along on the Social Security if I had no bills to pay." (Tr. p. 19).

Appellant has attempted to make a strong issue of the fact that the payments promised to be made in the divorce stipulation closely approximately the \$4700.00 plus odd dollars Respondent had at the time of marriage, and thus was a reimbursement and property settlement rather than for support and maintenance.

The best answer to this argument is in the testimony of the Respondent, who was a party to the divorce.

(Mr. Hinton) "Q Now, on cross-examination, you indicated that this settlement was to reimburse you for funds that you had before the marriage. Was there more involved to it than that?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A Well, yes. The money that I had spent on his bills, and that, there was the interest on that that I figured in on that, too."

(Mr. Hinton) "Q And what about support and maintenance?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A I don't get what you mean."

(Mr. Hinton) "Q What about his obligation to support you? Did this figure in your decision?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A Yes, because you just can't maintain a place on that small amount of money that I was getting."

(Mr. Hinton) "Q This was not only a repayment?"

(Irene Erickson Robison) "A It was for support. Actually, you can't maintain a house and that on \$160.00 a month, and pay your utilities and everything." (Tr. p. 30, 31).

In the case of *In re Hollister*, (DCNY 1942) 47 F. Supp. 154, aff'd per curiam, (CCA-2, 1943) 132 F. 2nd 861, it was held that:

"Although a bankrupt's indebtedness to his wife as it existed previous to an adjudication in bankruptcy would have been discharged by the bankruptcy, when the parties agreed that payment of the indebtedness should serve to release the bankrupt from his duty to support his wife, upon the granting of a divorce, it no longer constituted payment of a simple debt, for the debt had been converted into a contract for the maintenance and support of the wife within the meaning of Section 17 of the Bankruptcy Act."

See also *Battles v. Battles*, (Okla. 1952) 239 P. 2nd 794.

8B - Corpus Juris Secundum, 48 Bankruptcy Paragraph 570:

“Under the Bankruptcy Act, a discharge in Bankruptcy does not release the bankrupt from a debt for alimony due, or to become due, or for maintenance or support of his wife or child, claims of this nature come within the exception, even though they have been embodied in agreements between the parties, and even though they have been reduced to judgment.

Claims under agreements for maintenance and support are within the exceptions even though the agreement contains other features not falling strictly within the exception; . . . ”

The matter of Avery (C.C.A. 6th, 1940) 44 Am. B. R. (N.S.) 168, 114 F. 2nd 768, states as follows:

“Where a judgment against the bankrupt in favor of his divorced wife represented the amount of arrears due under a divorce decree which confirmed a “property settlement” between the parties, and such settlement contract shows that the amounts to be paid thereunder were intended for alimony and for the support and maintenance of the wife, the bankrupt cannot successfully contend that such judgment was discharged in bankruptcy.”

Nadler’s “The Law of Bankruptcy”, 2nd Edition, Paragraph 791, page 661, states:

“Akin to claims for alimony are liabilities for the ‘maintenance or support of wife or child’.¹⁴¹ Date of payment with reference to divorce or to bankruptcy is immaterial.¹⁴² Nor does it matter whether the obligation is made part of a Court decree¹⁴³ or is the subject matter of a settlement agreement between husband and

wife.¹⁴⁴ Here, too, there is no merger into a subsequent judgment, and the Court may go behind the judgment.¹⁴⁵ Since the liability for maintenance or support is not a debt, but is founded upon a legal duty, it is still such an undischageable obligation, even though the child whose maintenance is involved is illegitimate and the order to pay was issued in a bastardly proceeding".¹⁴⁶

Another fact stands out in the events which brought about this lawsuit, the bankruptcy filing on the part of the Appellant. It occurred on July 28, 1966. However, from the date of the Divorce Stipulation in September, 1965, until the bankruptcy filing, there is no evidence that he paid any payments on the three accounts. Also, these three bills and one other, a small dentist bill for \$84.00 for work done on his own son's teeth, constitute all of the creditors listed in the bankruptcy proceeding. One could easily surmise that he entered into the stipulation in bad faith, never intending to pay, and imposing the entire burden of family support and maintenance and debts upon Respondent.

A summary of the opinion in the case of *In Re Martin*, United States District Court, Southern District, Central Division (July 14, 1964) C.C.H. Section 4143, Case No. 61,138, states as follows:

"A bankrupt was denied an injunction to stay state court proceedings which were instituted by his former wife to collect monthly payments provided by the property settlement agreement in their divorce action where the language of the

agreement was in effect an agreement for support and not a division of community property as labeled and where there was strong evidence that the bankrupt had not acted in good faith. Three weeks after the divorce the bankrupt filed a voluntary petition of bankruptcy, listing his former wife as the only creditor. Until the divorce had been made final he had regularly paid the \$500 per month amount stipulated in the property settlement agreement. The bankrupt contended that because the payments due were labeled property settlements and was part of a division of community property that the payments due should have been discharged with the filing of bankruptcy and that his former wife should be enjoined from bringing suit to collect these payments. The court rejected this contention on several grounds. First, the bankrupt had "unclean hands", because he filed his petition in bankruptcy in bad faith. The bankrupt was not insolvent at the time of filing, and he attempted to transfer title to a piece of property valued at \$4000 to his attorney for \$900 consideration seven days before the filing of the petition. He also had \$900 in cash on his person when he listed his wife as the only creditor to an amount of \$345. The court said that they would not interfere in his behalf or grant him any relief, because he had violated the moral concepts of good conscience. The court also denied relief on the basis of its interpretation of the property settlement agreement under the Bankruptcy Act."

Appellant's efforts in his brief to discount this Court's ruling in the case of *Lyon vs. Lyon* (1949) 115 Utah 466, 206 P. 2d 148, are of no avail. His

attempts to distinguish are without merit as they endeavor to circumvent the natural and legal duty the husband has to support his wife.

The Lyon case seems to be directly in point with the fact situation of the present case. The Court's determination that even though a divorce decree provided for a property settlement in accordance with the stipulation of the parties, such property settlement was really an award for the support and maintenance of the defendant's wife "in the nature of alimony" and therefore the obligation thereunder was not discharged in bankruptcy. This would also seem to be a proper determination in the instant case.

On the other hand, Appellant's reliance upon the more recent Utah case of *Fife vs. Fife* (1954), 1 Utah 2nd 281, 265 P. 2nd 642, comes through a misinterpretation of the reason for the Court's decision. The fact of the matter is that *there was never a valid marriage* and hence no duty or requirement of alimony, support or maintenance. The ostensible marriage relationship was severed by an annulment rather than by divorce. Naturally, under these particular facts, the obligations would be dischargeable in bankruptcy. However, the decision would undoubtedly have been entirely different had the marriage been valid rather than void.

The Court concluded its decision with this statement, "We confine our conclusion to the facts of this case alone", . . . Thus, there was no effort to overrule,

distinguish, or even criticize the Court's 1949 ruling in the Lyon case, and, therefore, it still stands.

Appellant, if the cases are properly understood, has no Utah authorities to back up his position, and the decisions from other states should not be too persuasive. It should be noted, too, that most of Appellant's out-of-state citations are very old: In *Re Ostrander*, 139 F. 592 (1905); *Schellenberg v. Mullaney*, 112 App. Div. 384, 98 N.Y.S. 432, (1906); In *Loman v. Locke*, 134 N.E. 343, (1921) or were from California.

The quoted California case in Appellant's brief, *Smalley vs. Smalley* (1959) 176 Cal. App. 2nd (Adv. 402), 1 Cal Rptr 440, and is the principal case in 74 ALR 2nd 756, states:

"It has been squarely held in California that, where the parties have entered into a property settlement agreement whereby payments are thereafter to be made to the wife, *not for support* but in settlement of property rights, the discharge in bankruptcy of the husband discharges the debt."

This citation gives the other California cases cited in Appellant's brief as following this same rule: *Tropp v. Tropp*, 129 Cal App 62, 18 P 2nd 385; *Fernandes v. Pitta*, 47 Cal App 2nd 248, 117 P 2nd 728. In the latter case, it "stated in paragraph 15 that the contract was made '*solely* for the purpose of settling rights of property and support which arise between the parties on account of their present separation'."

In contrast the California rule as held in *Remondino v. Remondino*, 41 Cal. App. 2nd 208, 106, P 2nd 437, as that:

“An alimony judgment or a judgment which can properly be construed as being for alimony *is not affected* by a discharge in bankruptcy.”

Also, the annotation in 74 ALR 2nd 760, states:

“Even though the agreement between the spouses was called a property settlement and was referred to as such in the decree divorcing the parties, the obligation thereunder was held **not dischargeable** in bankruptcy, where the agreement was in substance one for maintenance and support.” *Blair v. Blair* (1941) 44 Cal App 2nd 140, 112 P2nd 39.

The contrasting rules seem to be as stated in 74 A.L.R. 2nd 759, paragraph 2 (a):

“In a number of cases it has been held or recognized that a property settlement agreement between spouses is dischargeable in bankruptcy, at least where it is truly or substantially a property settlement agreement, and not an agreement for alimony, support or maintenance.”

Paragraph 2 (b) states:

“But where the agreement is substantially one for alimony, maintenance, or support, it has been held or recognized that the obligation thereunder is not dischargeable in bankruptcy.”

These cases all turn on a clearly established property settlement, whereas Respondent maintains in the instant case that it was not a property settlement but

was in the nature of support and maintenance. In light of facts of this case, and all of the cases and the texts cited, the Court would have more than ample support to rule that Appellant's obligations could not be discharged by his filing for bankruptcy.

POINT II

THE OBLIGATIONS SUED UPON BY THE RESPONDENT WERE NOT IN THE NATURE OF PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS AND THE COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT FOUND THAT SUCH OBLIGATIONS WERE FOR SUPPORT AND MAINTENANCE OF THE RESPONDENT, THAT SUCH OBLIGATIONS WERE NOT DISCHARGED BY THE BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDINGS.

There is no question but what an agreement was made in this case, later being embodied in a written stipulation and then in the Divorce Decree. Respondent differs from the Appellant's interpretation in that the payments were always considered by the Respondent to be essential for her solvency and living. She had no job, was unskilled and had no income except from social security, which was barely enough to make ends meet. She should not possibly have paid these family obligations. This was not the settlement of a simple debt, but the agreement converted it into a contract for maintenance and support.

Another factor is also significant. Appellant promised, under the terms of the stipulation and divorce decree, to "save Plaintiff (Respondent) harmless from any suit or action" appertaining to these three family obligations. In Appellant's answer filed in the District Court, and which is a part of the record now before the Court in the appeal, the Defendant (Appellant) *admitted* in each of these three causes of action that this "save harmless" provision would apply. Respondent maintains that this "save harmless" provision is an additional reason why these obligations were debts not provable in bankruptcy since the "save harmless" clause would not take effect until the principal obligations were actually discharged by bankruptcy and Respondent had paid or assumed them.

The case of *Steele v. Georgia Finance, Inc.*, 53 Ga. App. 543, 86 S.E.580, states:

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